

TH EDITION

# **IT GOVERNANCE**

An International Guide to Data Security and IS027001/IS027002

ALAN CALDER STEVE WATKINS



# IT Governance

# An international guide to data security and ISO27001/ISO27002

SEVENTH EDITION

Alan Calder Steve Watkins



#### Publisher's note

Every possible effort has been made to ensure that the information contained in this book is accurate at the time of going to press, and the publishers and authors cannot accept responsibility for any errors or omissions, however caused. No responsibility for loss or damage occasioned to any person acting, or refraining from action, as a result of the material in this publication can be accepted by the publisher or either of the authors.

First published in Great Britain and the United States in 2002 by Kogan Page Limited

Second edition 2003 Third edition 2005 Fourth edition 2008 Fifth edition 2012 Sixth edition 2015 Seventh edition 2020

Apart from any fair dealing for the purposes of research or private study, or criticism or review, as permitted under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988, this publication may only be reproduced, stored or transmitted, in any form or by any means, with the prior permission in writing of the publishers, or in the case of reprographic reproduction in accordance with the terms and licences issued by the CLA. Enquiries concerning reproduction outside these terms should be sent to the publishers at the undermentioned addresses:

2nd Floor, 45 Gee Street London EC1V 3RS United Kingdom www.koganpage.com 122 W 27th St, 10th Floor New York, NY 10001 USA 4737/23 Ansari Road Daryaganj New Delhi 110002 India

© Alan Calder and Steve Watkins, 2002, 2003, 2005, 2008, 2012, 2015, 2020

The right of Alan Calder and Steve Watkins to be identified as the author of this work has been asserted by them in accordance with the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988.

#### **ISBNs**

Hardback 978 1 7896 6030 2 Paperback 978 0 7494 9695 1 Ebook 978 0 7494 9696 8

### **British Library Cataloguing-in-Publication Data**

A CIP record for this book is available from the British Library.

#### Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

A CIP record for this book is available from the Library of Congress.

Typeset by Hong Kong FIVE Workshop Print production managed by Jellyfish Printed and bound by CPI Group (UK) Ltd, Croydon, CR0 4YY

### **CONTENTS**

### About the author xi

### Introduction 1

# 1 Why is information security necessary? 9

The nature of information security threats 10 Information insecurity 12

Impacts of information security threats 13

Cybercrime 14

Cyberwar 16

Advanced persistent threat 17

Future risks 17

Legislation 20

Benefits of an information security management system 22

# 2 The Corporate Governance Code, the FRC Risk Guidance and Sarbanes-Oxley 23

The Combined Code 23

The Turnbull Report 24

The Corporate Governance Code 25

Sarbanes-Oxley 29

Enterprise risk management 31

Regulatory compliance 33

IT governance 34

### 3 ISO27001 37

Benefits of certification 37

The history of ISO27001 and ISO27002 38

The ISO/IEC 27000 series of standards 40

Use of the standard 41

ISO/IEC 27002 42

Continual improvement, Plan–Do–Check–Act, and process approach 43

Structured approach to implementation 44 Management system integration 47 Documentation 48 Continual improvement and metrics 53

# 4 Organizing information security 55

Internal organization 56
Management review 58
The information security manager 59
The cross-functional management forum 61
The ISO27001 project group 62
Specialist information security advice 68
Segregation of duties 70
Contact with special interest groups 71
Contact with authorities 73
Information security in project management 73
Independent review of information security 74
Summary 75

# 5 Information security policy and scope 77

Context of the organization 77 Information security policy 78 A policy statement 85 Costs and the monitoring of progress 86

# 6 The risk assessment and Statement of Applicability 89

Establishing security requirements 89
Risks, impacts and risk management 89
Cyber Essentials 99
Selection of controls and Statement of Applicability 106
Statement of Applicability Example 108
Gap analysis 109
Risk assessment tools 110
Risk treatment plan 111
Measures of effectiveness 112

### 7 Mobile devices 115

Mobile devices and teleworking 115 Teleworking 118

### 8 Human resources security 121

Job descriptions and competency requirements 121 Screening 123 Terms and conditions of employment 126 During employment 128 Disciplinary process 134 Termination or change of employment 135

### 9 Asset management 139

Asset owners 139
Inventory 140
Acceptable use of assets 143
Information classification 144
Unified classification markings 146
Government classification markings 148
Information lifecycle 149
Information labelling and handling 150
Non-disclosure agreements and trusted partners 155

# 10 Media handling 157

Physical media in transit 159

### 11 Access control 161

Hackers 161
Hacker techniques 162
System configuration 166
Access control policy 167
Network Access Control 169

# 12 User access management 179

User access provisioning 184

# 13 System and application access control 191

Secure log-on procedures 192
Password management system 193
Use of privileged utility programs 194
Access control to program source code 195

# 14 Cryptography 197

Encryption 198 Public key infrastructure 199 Digital signatures 200 Non-repudiation services 201 Key management 202

# 15 Physical and environmental security 205

Secure areas 205 Delivery and loading areas 214

# 16 Equipment security 217

Equipment siting and protection 217
Supporting utilities 220
Cabling security 222
Equipment maintenance 223
Removal of assets 224
Security of equipment and assets off-premises 224
Secure disposal or reuse of equipment 225
Clear desk and clear screen policy 227

# 17 Operations security 229

Documented operating procedures 229 Change management 231 Separation of development, testing and operational environments 233 Back-up 234

# 18 Controls against malicious software (malware) 239

Viruses, worms, Trojans and rootkits 239 Spyware 241 Anti-malware software 241 Hoax messages and Ransomware 243 Phishing and pharming 244 Anti-malware controls 245 Airborne viruses 248 Technical vulnerability management 250 Information Systems Audits 252

# 19 Communications management 253

Network security management 253

### 20 Exchanges of information 259

Information transfer policies and procedures 259
Agreements on information transfers 262
E-mail and social media 263
Security risks in e-mail 264
Spam 266
Misuse of the internet 266
Internet acceptable use policy 269
Social media 271

### 21 System acquisition, development and maintenance 273

Security requirements analysis and specification 273
Securing application services on public networks 274
E-commerce issues 275
Security technologies 278
Server security 281
Server virtualization 282
Protecting application services transactions 283

# 22 Development and support processes 285

Secure development policy 285
Secure systems engineering principles 289
Secure development environment 289
Security and acceptance testing 290

# 23 Supplier relationships 295

Information security policy for supplier relationships 295
Addressing security within supplier agreements 297
ICT supply chain 299
Monitoring and review of supplier services 301
Managing changes to supplier services 302

# 24 Monitoring and information security incident management 305

Logging and monitoring 305
Information security events and incidents 310
Incident management – responsibilities and procedures 310
Reporting information security events 313
Reporting software malfunctions 316
Assessment of and decision on information security events 318
Response to information security incidents 318
Legal admissibility 321

# 25 Business and information security continuity management 323

ISO22301 323

The business continuity management process 324
Business continuity and risk assessment 325
Developing and implementing continuity plans 327
Business continuity planning framework 328
Testing, maintaining and reassessing business continuity plans 332
Information security continuity 335

# 26 Compliance 339

Identification of applicable legislation 340
Intellectual property rights 353
Protection of organizational records 358
Privacy and protection of personally identifiable information 359
Regulation of cryptographic controls 361
Compliance with security policies and standards 361
Information systems audit considerations 364

### 27 The ISO27001 audit 365

Selection of auditors 365 Initial audit 367 Preparation for audit 368 Terminology 371

Appendix 1: Useful websites 373 Appendix 2: Further reading 379 Index 385

### **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

#### ALAN CALDER

Alan Calder founded IT Governance Limited in 2002 and began working full time for the company in 2007. He is now Group CEO of GRC International Group PLC, the AIM-listed company that owns IT Governance Ltd. Prior to this, Alan had a number of roles including CEO of Business Link London City Partners from 1995 to 1998 (a government agency focused on helping growing businesses to develop), CEO of Focus Central London from 1998 to 2001 (a training and enterprise council), CEO of Wide Learning from 2001 to 2003 (a supplier of e-learning) and the Outsourced Training Company (2005). Alan was also chairman of CEME (a public private sector skills partnership) from 2006 to 2011.

Alan is an acknowledged international cyber security guru and a leading author on information security and IT governance issues. He has been involved in the development of a wide range of information security management training courses that have been accredited by the International Board for IT Governance Qualifications (IBITGQ). Alan has consulted for clients in the UK and abroad, and is a regular media commentator and speaker.

#### STEVE WATKINS

Steve is an executive director at GRC International Group PLC. He is a contracted technical assessor for UKAS, advising on its assessments of certification bodies offering ISMS/ISO 27001 and ITSMS/ISO 20000-1 accredited certification, and also undertakes information security assessments of forensic science laboratories seeking accreditation to the Forensic Science Regulator's codes of practice and conduct.

He is a member of ISO/IEC JTC 1/SC 27, the international technical committee responsible for information security, cyber security and privacy standards, and chairs the UK National Standards Body's technical committee IST/33 (Information technology – Security techniques) that mirrors it. Steve is also involved with technical committees: RM/1 (risk management) and RM/1/-/3 (responsible for BS 31111, providing guidance for boards and senior management on cyber risk and resilience); IST/060/02 (IT service management) and IDT/001/0-/04 (data protection).

# Introduction

This book on IT governance is a key resource for forward-looking executives and managers in 21st-century organizations of all sizes. There are six reasons for this:

- 1 The development of IT governance, which recognizes the 'information economy'-driven convergence between business management and IT management, makes it essential for executives and managers at all levels in organizations of all sizes to understand how decisions about information technology in the organization should be made and monitored and, in particular, how information security risks are best dealt with.
- Risk management is a big issue. In the United Kingdom, the FRC's Risk Guidance (formerly the Turnbull Guidance on internal control) gives directors of Stock Exchange-listed companies a clear responsibility to act on IT governance, on the effective management of risk in IT projects and on computer security. The US Sarbanes–Oxley Act places a similar expectation on directors of all US listed companies. Banks and financial sector organizations are subject to the requirements of the Bank of International Settlements (BIS) and the Basel 2/3 frameworks, particularly around operational risk which absolutely includes information and IT risk. Information security and the challenge of delivering IT projects on time, to specification and to budget also affect private- and public-sector organizations throughout the world.
- 3 Particularly post-GDPR, information-related legislation and regulation are increasingly important to all organizations. Data protection, privacy and breach regulations, computer misuse and regulations around investigatory powers are part of a complex and often competing range of requirements to which directors must respond. There is, increasingly, the need for an overarching information security framework that can provide context and coherence to compliance activity worldwide.

- **4** As the intellectual capital value of 'information economy' organizations increases, their commercial viability and profitability as well as their share price increasingly depend on the security, confidentiality and integrity of their information and information assets.
- 5 The dramatic growth and scale of the 'information economy' have created new, global threats and vulnerabilities for all organizations, particularly in cyberspace.
- 6 The world's first, and only, standard for information security management is now at the heart of a globally recognized framework for information security and assurance. As part of the series of ISO/IEC 27000 standards, the key standard, ISO/IEC 27001, has been updated to contain latest international best practice, with which, increasingly, businesses are asking their suppliers to conform. Compliance with the standard should enable company directors to demonstrate a proper response to customers as well as to regulatory and judicial authorities to all the challenges identified above.

# The information economy

Faced with the emergence and speed of growth in the information economy, organizations have an urgent need to adopt IT governance best practice. The main drivers of the information economy are:

- the ongoing globalization of markets, products and resourcing (including 'offshoring' and 'nearshoring');
- electronic information and knowledge intensity;
- the geometric increase in the level of electronic networking and connectivity.

The key characteristics of the global information economy, which affect all organizations, are as follows:

- Unlike the industrial economy, information and knowledge are not depleting resources that have to be rationed and protected.
- Protecting knowledge is less obviously beneficial than previously: sharing knowledge actually drives innovation, and innovation drives competitiveness.
- The effect of geographic location is diminished; virtual and cloud-based organizations operate around the clock in virtual marketplaces that have no geographic boundaries.

- As knowledge shifts to low-tax, low-regulation environments, laws and taxes are increasingly difficult to apply on a solely national basis.
- · Knowledge-enhanced products command price premiums.
- Captured, indexed and accessible knowledge has greater intrinsic value than knowledge that goes home at the end of every day.
- Intellectual capital is an increasingly significant part of shareholder value in every organization.

The challenges, demands and risks faced by organizations operating in this information-rich and technologically intensive environment require a proper response. In the corporate governance climate of the early 21st century, with its growing demand for shareholder rights, corporate transparency and board accountability, this response must be a governance one.

# What is IT governance?

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), in its *Principles of Corporate Governance* (1999), first formally defined 'corporate governance' as 'the system by which business corporations are directed and controlled'. Every country in the OECD is evolving – at a different speed – its own corporate governance regime, reflecting its own culture and requirements. Within its overall approach to corporate governance, every organization has to determine how it will govern the information, information assets and information technology on which its business model and business strategy rely. This need has led to the emergence of IT governance as a specific – and pervasively important – component of an organization's total governance posture.

We define IT governance as 'the framework for the leadership, organizational structures and business processes, standards and compliance to these standards, which ensures that the organization's information systems support and enable the achievement of its strategies and objectives'.

There are five specific drivers for organizations to adopt IT governance strategies:

 the requirements (in the United Kingdom) of the Corporate Governance Code and the Risk Guidance; for US-listed companies, Sarbanes—Oxley; for banks and financial institutions, BIS and Basel 2/3; and for businesses everywhere, the requirements of their national corporate governance regimes;

#### 4 INTRODUCTION

- the increasing intellectual capital value that the organization has at risk;
- the need to align technology projects with strategic organizational goals and to ensure that they deliver planned value;
- the proliferation of (increasingly complex) threats to information and information security, particularly in cyber space, with consequent potential impacts on corporate reputation, revenue and profitability;
- the increase in the compliance requirements of (increasingly conflicting and punitive) information- and privacy-related regulation, particularly the EU GDPR and regulations inspired by it.

There are two fundamental components of effective management of risk in information and information technology. The first relates to an organization's strategic deployment of information technology in order to achieve its business goals. IT projects often represent significant investments of financial and managerial resources. Shareholders' interest in the effectiveness of such deployment should be reflected in the transparency with which they are planned, managed and measured, and the way in which risks are assessed and controlled. The second component is the way in which the risks associated with information assets themselves are managed.

Clearly, well-managed information technology is a business enabler. All directors, executives and managers, at every level in any organization of any size, need to understand how to ensure that their investments in information and information technology enable the business. Every deployment of information technology brings with it immediate risks to the organization, and therefore every director or executive who deploys, or manager who makes any use of, information technology needs to understand these risks and the steps that should be taken to counter them. This book deals with IT governance from the perspective of the director or business manager, rather than from that of the IT specialist. It also deals primarily with the strategic and operational aspects of information security.

# Information security

The proliferation of increasingly complex, sophisticated and global threats to information security, in combination with the compliance requirements of a flood of computer- and privacy-related regulation around the world, is driving organizations to take a more strategic view of information security.

It has become clear that hardware-, software- and/or vendor-driven solutions to individual information security challenges are, on their own, dangerously inadequate.

While most organizations believe that their information systems are secure, the brutal reality is that they are not. Not only is it extremely difficult for an organization to operate in today's world without effective information security, but poorly secured organizations have become risks to their more responsible associates. The extent and value of electronic data are continuing to grow exponentially. The exposure of businesses and individuals to data misappropriation (particularly in electronic format) or destruction is also growing very quickly. Ultimately, consumer confidence in dealing across the web depends on how secure consumers believe their personal data are. Cyber security, for this reason, matters to any business with any form of web strategy (and any business without a web strategy is unlikely to be around in the long term), from simple business-to-consumer (b2c) or business-to-business (b2b) e-commerce propositions through enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems to the use of e-mail, social media, mobile devices, Cloud applications and web services. It matters, too, to any organization that depends on computers for its day-to-day existence or that may be subject (as are all organizations) to the provisions of data protection legislation.

Newspapers and business or sector magazines are full of stories about criminal hackers, viruses, online fraud, cyber crime and loss of personal data. These are just the public tip of the data insecurity iceberg. There is growing evidence of substantial financial losses amongst inadequately secured businesses and a number of instances where businesses have failed to survive a major disruption of their data and operating systems. All businesses now suffer low-level, daily disruption of normal operations as a result of inadequate security.

Many people also experience the frustration of trying to buy something online, only for the screen to give some variant of the message 'server not available'. Many more, working with computers in their daily lives, have experienced (once too) many times a local network failure or outage that interrupts their work. With the increasing pervasiveness of computers, and as hardware/software computing packages become ever more powerful and complex, so the opportunity for data and data systems to be compromised or corrupted (knowingly or otherwise) will increase.

Information security management systems (ISMSs) in the vast majority of organizations are, in real terms, non-existent, and even where systems have

been designed and implemented, they are usually inadequate. In simple terms, larger organizations tend to operate their security functions in vertically segregated silos with little or no coordination. This structural weakness means that most organizations have significant vulnerabilities that can be exploited deliberately or that simply open them up to disaster.

For instance, while the corporate lawyers will tackle all the legal issues (nondisclosure agreements, patents, contracts, etc), they will have little involvement with the data security issues faced on the organizational perimeter. On the organizational perimeter, those dealing with physical security concentrate almost exclusively on physical assets, such as gates or doors, security guards and burglar alarms. They have little appreciation of, or impact upon, the 'cyber' perimeter. The IT managers, responsible for the cyber perimeter, may be good at ensuring that everyone has a strong password and that there is internet connectivity, that the organization is able to respond to malware threats, and that key partners, customers and suppliers are able to deal electronically with the organization, but they almost universally lack the training, experience or exposure adequately to address the strategic threat to the information assets of the organization as a whole. There are many organizations in which the IT managers subjectively set and implement security policy for the organization on the basis of their own risk assessment, past experiences and interests, but with little regard for the real business needs or strategic objectives of the organization.

Information security is a complex issue and deals with the confidentiality, integrity and availability of data. IT governance is even more complex, and in information security terms one has to think in terms of the whole enterprise, the entire organization, which includes all the possible combinations of physical and cyber assets, all the possible combinations of intranets, extranets and internets, and which might include an extended network of business partners, vendors, customers and others. This handbook guides the interested manager through this maze of issues, through the process of implementing internationally recognized best practice in information security, as captured in ISO/IEC 27002:2013 and, finally, achieving certification to ISO/IEC 27001:2013, the world's formal, public, international standard for effective information security management.

The ISMS standard is not geographically limited (eg to the United Kingdom, or Japan or the United States), nor is it restricted to a specific sector (eg the Department of Defence or the software industry), nor is it restricted to a specific product (such as an ERP system, or Software as a Service). This book covers many aspects of data security, providing sufficient

information for the reader to understand the major data security issues and what to do about them – and, above all, what steps and systems are necessary for the achievement of independent certification of the organization's ISMS to ISO27001.

This book is of particular benefit to board members, directors, executives, owners and managers of any business or organization that depends on information, that uses computers on a regular basis, that is responsible for personal data or that has an internet aspect to its strategy. It can equally apply to any organization that relies on the confidentiality, integrity and availability of its data. It is directed at readers who either have no prior understanding of data security or whose understanding is limited in interest, scope or depth. It is not written for technology or security specialists, whose knowledge of specific issues should always be sought by the concerned owner, director or manager. While it deals with technology issues, it is not a technological handbook.

Information security is a key component of IT governance. As information technology and information itself become more and more the strategic enablers of organizational activity, so the effective management of both and information assets becomes a critical strategic concern for boards of directors. This book will enable directors and business managers in organizations and enterprises of all sizes to ensure that their IT security strategies are coordinated, coherent, comprehensive and cost-effective, and meet their specific organizational or business needs. While the book is written initially for UK organizations, its lessons are relevant internationally, as computers and data threats are internationally similar. Again, while the book is written primarily with a Microsoft environment in mind (reflecting the penetration of the Microsoft suite of products into corporate environments), its principles apply to all hardware and software environments. ISO/IEC 27001 is, itself, system agnostic.

The hard copy of this book provides detailed advice and guidance on the development and implementation of an ISMS that will meet the ISO27001 specification. The IT Governance website (www.itgovernancepublishing.co.uk/category/toolkits-information-security-iso27001 (archived at https://perma.cc/7FED-RY3Y)) carries a series of ISO27001 Documentation Toolkits. Use of the templates within these toolkits, which are not industry or jurisdiction specific but which do integrate absolutely with the advice in this book, can speed knowledge acquisition and ensure that your process development is comprehensive and systematic.

Organizations should always ensure that any processes they implement are appropriate and tailored for their own environment. There are four reasons for this:

- Policies, processes and procedures should always reflect the style, and the
  culture, of the organization that is going to use them. This will help their
  acceptance within the organization.
- The processes and procedures that are adopted should reflect the risk assessment carried out by the organization's specialist security adviser. While some risks are common to many organizations, the approach to controlling them should be appropriate to, and cost-effective for, the individual organization and its individual objectives and operating environment.
- It is important that the organization understands, in detail, its policies, processes and procedures. It will have to review them after any significant security incident and at least once a year. The best way to understand them thoroughly is through the detailed drafting process.
- Most importantly, the threats to an organization's information security
  are evolving as fast as the information technology that supports it. It is
  essential that security processes and procedures are completely up to
  date, that they reflect current risks and that, in particular, current
  technological advice is taken, to build on the substantial groundwork laid
  in this book.

This book will certainly provide enough information to make the drafting of detailed procedures quite straightforward. Where it is useful (particularly in generic areas like e-mail controls, data protection, etc.), there are pointers as to how procedures should be drafted. Information is the very lifeblood of most organizations today and its security ought to be approached professionally and thoroughly.

Finally, it should be noted that ISO27001 is a service assurance scheme, not a product badge or cast-iron guarantee. Achieving ISO27001 certification does not of itself prove that the organization has a completely secure information system; it is merely an indicator, particularly to third parties, that the objective of achieving appropriate security is being effectively pursued. Information security is, in the terms of the cliché, a journey, not a destination.

# Why is information security necessary?

An information security management system (ISMS) is necessary because the threats to the availability, integrity and confidentiality of the organization's information are great, and always increasing. Any prudent householder whose house was built on the shores of a tidal river would, when facing the risk of floods, take urgent steps to improve the defences of the house against the water. It would clearly be insufficient just to block up the front gate, because the water would get in everywhere and anywhere it could. In fact, the only prudent action would be to block every single possible channel through which floodwaters might enter and then to try to build the walls even higher, in case the floods were even worse than expected.

So it is with the threats to organizational information, which are now reaching tidal proportions. All organizations possess information, or data, that is either critical or sensitive. Information is widely regarded as the lifeblood of modern business. Advanced Persistent Threat (APT) is the description applied to the cyber activities of sophisticated criminals and state-level entities, targeted on large corporations and foreign governments, with the objective of stealing information or compromising information systems. Cyber attacks are, initially, automated and indiscriminate – any organization with an internet presence will be scanned and potentially targeted.

Not surprisingly, the PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) Global State of Information Security Survey 2018 said that 'most organizations realize that cybersecurity has become a persistent, all-encompassing business risk'. This is because the business use of technology is continuing to evolve rapidly, as organizations move into cloud computing and exploit social networks. Wireless networking, Voice over IP (VoIP) and Software as a Service (SaaS)

have become mainstream. The increasingly digital and inter-connected supply chain increases the pressure on organizations to manage information and its security and confirms the growing dependence of UK business on information and information technology.

While it is clearly banal to state that today's organization depends for its very existence on its use of information and communications technology, it is apparently not yet self-evident to the vast majority of boards and business owners that their information is valuable to both competitors and criminals and that how well they protect their systems and information is existentially important.

There is no doubt that organizations are facing a flood of threats to their intellectual assets and to their critical and sensitive information. High-profile cyber attacks and data protection compliance failures have led to significant embarrassment and brand damage for organizations – in both the public and private sectors – all over the world.

In parallel with the evolution of information security threats, there has – across the world – been a thickening web of legislation and regulation that makes firms criminally liable, and in some instances makes directors personally accountable, for failing to implement and maintain appropriate risk control and information security measures. It is now blindingly obvious that organizations have to act to secure and protect their information assets.

'Information security', however, means different things to different people. To vendors of security products, it tends to be limited to the product(s) they sell. To many directors and managers, it tends to mean something they don't understand and that the CIO, CISO or IT manager has to put in place. To many users of IT equipment, it tends to mean unwanted restrictions on what they can do on their corporate PCs. These are all dangerously narrow views.

# The nature of information security threats

Data or information is right at the heart of the modern organization. Its availability, integrity and confidentiality are fundamental to the long-term survival of any 21st-century organization; in survey after survey, 9 out of 10 organizations make this claim. Unless the organization takes a comprehensive and systematic approach to protecting the availability, integrity and confidentiality of its information, it will be vulnerable to a wide range of possible threats. These threats are not restricted to internet companies, to

e-commerce businesses, to organizations that use technology, to financial organizations or to organizations that have secret or confidential information. As we saw earlier, they affect all organizations, in all sectors of the economy, both public and private. They are a 'clear and present danger', and strategic responsibility for ensuring that the organization has appropriately defended its information assets cannot be abdicated or palmed off on the CIO, CIOS or head of IT.

In spite of surveys and reports which claim that boards and managers are paying more attention to security, the truth is that the risk to information is growing more quickly than boards are recognizing. The annual Verizon Data Breaches Report gathered data from 80,000 data breaches (which occurred in a 12-month period) across the world to conclude that 700 million compromised records were the cause of financial losses of some \$400 million. Matters are worse in every subsequent year.

Information security threats come from both within and without an organization. The situation worsens every year, and cyber threats are likely to become more serious in future. Cyber activism is at least as serious a threat as is cyber crime, cyber war and cyber terrorism. Unprovoked external attacks and internal threats are equally serious. It is impossible to predict what attack might be made on any given information asset, or when, or how. The speed with which methods of attack evolve, and knowledge about them proliferates, makes it completely pointless to take action only against specific, identified threats. Only a comprehensive, systematic approach will deliver the level of information security that any organization really needs.

It is worth understanding the risks to which an organization with an inadequate ISMS exposes itself. These risks fall into three categories:

- · damage to operations;
- · damage to reputation;
- · legal damage.

Damage in any one of these three categories can be measured by its impact on the organization's bottom line, both short and long term. While there is no single, comprehensive, global study of information risks or threats on which all countries and authorities rely, there are a number of surveys, reports and studies, in and across different countries and often with slightly differing objectives, that, between them, demonstrate the nature, scale, complexity and significance of these information security risks and the extent to which organizations, through their own complacency or through

the vulnerabilities in their hardware, software, and management systems, are vulnerable to these threats.

# Information insecurity

Annual surveys point to a steadily worsening situation. The annual Verizon Data Breach Investigations Report, conducted with the US Secret Service, and which draws data from both the United States and internationally, regularly reports that:

- · data breaches occur within all sorts of organizations;
- hundreds of millions of records are compromised every year;
- most breaches originate externally, a significant per cent internally, and more than a quarter were carried out by multiple agents.

The United Kingdom's annual Information Security Breaches Survey (ISBS), managed by PwC, looks at the state of information security across a representative sample of UK organizations. Key findings include:

- Almost all large organizations suffer data breaches, and often multiple breaches; large organizations tend to be specifically targeted by attackers.
- More than 50% of small organizations are breached; because they are not specifically targeted, they suffer fewer breaches every year.
- The average cost to a large organization of its worst breach is between £600k and £1.15 million.
- For a small organization, the range is between £65k and £115k.
- More than three-quarters of large respondents suffer from a malware or virus infection, often delivered via a phishing e-mail.
- More than half of large respondents suffer an external attack; quite often
  this is some form of denial of service attack, and less than a quarter are
  able to identify that their defences have actually been penetrated.
- The majority of organizations also suffer staff-related security breaches; one-third of the worst breaches are caused by inadvertent human error.

Surveys and data from other OECD economies suggest that a similar situation can be found across the world. Hackers, crackers, virus writers, spammers, phishers, pharmers, fraudsters and the whole menagerie of cyber-criminals

are increasingly adept at exploiting the vulnerabilities in organizations' software, hardware, networks and processes. As fraudsters, spam and virus writers, hackers and cyber criminals band together to mount integrated attacks on businesses and public sector organizations everywhere, the need for appropriate cyber security defences increases.

Often – but not always – information security is *in reality* seen only as an issue for the IT department, which it clearly isn't. Good information security management is about organizations understanding the risks and threats they face and the vulnerabilities in their current computer processing facilities. It is about putting in place common-sense procedures to minimize the risks and about educating all the employees about their responsibilities. Most importantly, it is about ensuring that the policy on information security management has the commitment of senior managers. It is only when these procedural and management issues are addressed that organizations can decide on what security technologies they need.

Roughly one-seventh of businesses are still spending less than 1 per cent of their IT budget on information security; although the average company is spending just under 4 per cent, the benchmark against which their expenditure should be compared is closer to the 13 per cent average of organizations where managers genuinely care about information security. That less than half of all businesses ever estimate the return on their information security investment may be part of the problem; certainly, until business takes its IT governance responsibilities seriously, the information security situation will continue to worsen.

# Impacts of information security threats

As indicated above, information security breaches affect business operations, reputation and legal standing. Business disruption is the most serious impact, with roughly two-thirds of UK breaches leading to disruption of operations, with consequent impacts on customer service and business efficiency. As well as business disruption, organizations face incident response costs that include response and remediation costs (responding to, fixing and cleaning up after a security breach), direct financial loss (loss of assets, regulatory fines, compensation payments), indirect financial loss (through leakage of confidential information or intellectual property, revenue leakage), and reputation damage, with successful hack attacks and data losses both attracting increasing media attention.

There is a wide range of information available about the nature and average cost of a breach. The annual Verizon DBIR gathers information from 61 countries and multiple industry sectors in order to conclude that no industry is immune from data breaches. In 60 per cent of cases, attackers are able to compromise targets 'within minutes'; it still takes longer to detect the compromise than it does to complete the attack. Verison's forecast average financial loss per breach of 1,000 records is between \$52,000 and \$87,000. Most importantly, they conclude that the consistently most significant factor in quantifying the cost of loss for an organization is not the nature of the breach, but the number of records compromised.

The various components of that financial loss include discovery, investigation, response, remediation, customer notification costs, legal fees, regulatory breach notification costs, and increased operational, marketing and PR costs.

As the Target (a large US retailer) breach, in the USA just before Thanksgiving back in 2013, proved, damage to corporate reputation, shareholder class actions and straightforward loss of customers and the fall in net revenue arising from a successful breach can have a far more significant impact on the future performance of the organization – and, increasingly, on the continued employment and future careers of the directors at the helm of the organization when the breach occurred.

# Cybercrime

The US State of Cybercrime Survey (conducted by CSO Magazine, the US Secret Service, the CERT Division of the Software Engineering Institute, and Price Waterhouse Cooper) spoke to 557 organizations about their experience in the previous 12 months. Thirty-two per cent of respondents said that damage from insider attacks was more severe than that from outsiders; 76 per cent of incidents involved theft or compromise of confidential records. Thirty-seven per cent of cybercrimes were not prosecuted because the culprits could not be identified and, for 36 per cent, the evidence was inadequate to support a prosecution.

In reality, many information security incidents are actually crimes. The UK Computer Misuse Act, for instance, makes it an offence for anyone to access a computer without authorization, to modify the contents of a

computer without authorization or to facilitate (allow) such activity to take place. It identified sanctions for such activity, including fines and imprisonment. Other countries have taken similar action to identify and create offences that should enable law enforcement bodies to act to deal with computer misuse. Increasingly, this type of illegal activity is known as 'cybercrime'.

The Council of Europe Cybercrime Convention, the first multilateral instrument drafted to address the problems posed by the spread of criminal activity on computer networks, was signed in November 2001. The United States finally ratified the Cybercrime Convention in 2006 and joined with effect from 1 January 2007. The Cybercrime Convention was designed to protect citizens against computer hacking and internet fraud, and to deal with crimes involving electronic evidence, including child sexual exploitation, organized crime and terrorism. Parties to the convention commit to effective and compatible laws and tools to fight cybercrime, and to cooperating to investigate and prosecute these crimes. They are not succeeding in this aim.

Europol, the European police agency, publishes the Internet Organized Crime Threat Assessment (iOCTA). iOCTA 2014 said that current trends suggest considerable increases in the scope, sophistication, number and types of attacks, number of victims and economic damage from organized crime on the Internet. The Crime-as-a-Service (CaaS) business model drives the digital underground economy by providing a wide range of commercial services that facilitate almost any type of cybercrime. Criminals are freely able to procure such services, such as the rental of botnets, denial-of-service attacks, malware development, data theft and password cracking, to commit crimes themselves. This has facilitated a move by traditional organized crime groups (OCGs) into cybercrime areas. The financial gain that cybercrime experts have from offering these services stimulates the commercialization of cybercrime as well as its innovation and further sophistication. Legitimate privacy networks are also of primary interest to criminals that abuse such anonymity on a massive scale for illicit online trade in drugs, weapons, stolen goods, forged IDs and child sexual exploitation.

The internet is, in other words, digitally dangerous. Organizations must take appropriate steps to protect themselves against criminal activity – both internal and external – in just the same way as they take steps to protect themselves in the physical world.

# Cyberwar

Cybercrime is a serious issue but, in the longer run, may be a lesser danger to organizations than the effects of what is called 'cyberwar'. It is believed that every significant terrorist or criminal organization has cyber-capabilities and has become very sophisticated in its ability to plan and execute digital attacks. More significantly, many nation states now see cyberwar as an alternative – or an essential precursor to – traditional warfare.

Eliza Manningham-Buller, the then director-general of the UK security service MI5, said this at the 2004 CBI annual conference:

A narrow definition of corporate security including the threats of crime and fraud should be widened to include terrorism and the threat of electronic attack. In the same way that health and safety and compliance have become part of the business agenda, so should a broad understanding of security, and considering it should be an integral and permanent part of your planning and statements of internal control; do not allow it to be left to specialists. Ask them to report to you what they are doing to identify and protect your key assets, including your people.

A decade later, Sir Ian Lobban said much the same thing in an open letter to CEOs and Chairs of FTSE 350 companies, encouraging them to undertake a 'cyber health check' after a KPMG security survey found that all of them were leaking data, such as employee usernames, e-mail addresses and sensitive internal file location information online.

Certainly, businesses appear to have got this message, with 97 per cent of them claiming to be concerned at board level about cyberwar. They should be. More than 400 million computers are linked to the internet; many of them are vulnerable to indiscriminate cyber-attack. The critical infrastructure of the First World is subject to the threat of cyber-assaults ranging from defacing websites to undermining critical national infrastructure.

A growing number of countries are at last putting cyber security strategies in place. The UK government's 2015 national security strategy recognized cyber risk as a Tier 4 national security risk and its national cyber security strategy has the objective of making the UK one of the most secure places in the world to live and work online. The EU's 2013 cyber security strategy ('An Open, Safe and Secure Cyberspace') has similar objectives.

While organizations that are part of the Critical National Infrastructure (CNI) clearly have a significant role to play in preparing to defend their national cyberspace against cyberattack, all organizations should take

appropriate steps to defend themselves from being caught in the digital crossfire.

# Advanced persistent threat

The term advanced persistent threat (APT) usually refers to a national government – or state-level entity that has the capacity and the intent to persistently and effectively target – in cyberspace – another entity that it wishes to disrupt or otherwise compromise. While cyberspace is the most common theatre of attack, other vectors include social engineering, infected media and malware and supply chain compromise. Attackers usually have the resources, competence and available time to focus on attacking one or more specific entities. The Stuxnet worm is an example of one such attack, but there are many others. For most large organizations, the critical consideration is not whether or not they have been targeted (they will have been), but whether or not they have been able to identify and neutralize the intrusion.

### Future risks

There are a number of trends that lie behind these increases in threats to computer-based information security, which when taken together suggest that things will continue to get worse, not better:

- 1 The use of distributed computing is increasing. Computing power has migrated from centralized mainframe computers and data processing centres to a distributed network of desktop computers, laptop computers, microcomputers, and mobile devices, and this makes information security much more difficult to ensure.
- 2 There is an unstoppable trend towards mobile computing. The use of laptop computers, personal digital assistants (PDAs), mobile and smartphones, digital cameras, portable projectors, MP3 players and iPads has made working from home and while travelling relatively straightforward, with the result that network perimeters have become increasingly porous. This means that the number of remote access points to networks, and the number of easily accessible endpoint devices, have increased dramatically, and this has increased the opportunities for those who wish to break into networks and steal or corrupt information.

damage to the victim organization. Computer fraud, conducted by staff with or without third-party involvement, has an immediate direct financial impact.

- Regulation and compliance requirements will increase. Regulators will
  increasingly legislate to force corporations to take appropriate information security action and that will drive up the cost and complexity of
  information security. Breaches will increasingly also trigger mandatory
  reporting requirements and lead to significant fines.
- Reputations will be damaged. Organizations that are unable to protect
  the privacy of information about staff and customers, and which consequently attract penalties and fines, will find their corporate credibility
  and business relationships severely damaged and their expensively developed brand and brand image dented.

The statistics are compelling. The threats are evident. No organization can afford to ignore the need for information security. The fact that the risks are so widespread and the sources of danger so diverse means that it is insufficient simply to implement an antivirus policy, or a business continuity policy, or any other standalone solution. A conclusion of the CBI Cybercrime Survey 2001 was that 'deployment of technologies such as firewalls may provide false levels of comfort unless organizations have performed a formal risk analysis and configured firewalls and security mechanisms to reflect their overall risk strategy'. Nothing has changed. It was clear from the UK's ISBS that there is a correlation between security expenditure and risk assessments. On average, those respondents that carried out a risk assessment spent 8 per cent of their IT budget on security. The average expenditure for those that did not was 5 per cent or less. It seems likely, therefore, that those that have not actually assessed their information security risks are also under-investing in their security.

The only sensible option is to carry out a thorough assessment of the risks facing the organization and then to adopt a comprehensive and systematic approach to information security that cost-effectively tackles those risks.

# Legislation

Certainly, organizations can legally no longer ignore the issue. There is a growing number of laws that are relevant to information security. In the

United Kingdom, for instance, relevant laws include the Companies Act 2006; the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988; the Computer Misuse Act 1990 (as updated by the Police and Justice Act 2006); and the Data Protection Act 2018.

The Data Protection Act 2018 (DPA) is perhaps the most high-profile of these recently passed laws; it implements the EU GDPR into UK legislation and requires organizations in both the public and the private sectors to implement data security measures to prevent unauthorized or unlawful processing (which includes storing) and accidental loss or damage to data pertaining to living individuals. Fines of up to 4 per cent of global turnover may be imposed by the Information Commissioner's Office for breaches of the DPA.

While these Acts apply to all UK-based organizations, Stock Exchangelisted companies are also expected to comply with the recommendations of the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Risk Guidance on effective controls. Crucially, these require directors to take a risk assessment-based approach to their management of the business and to consider all aspects of the business in doing so.

In the United States, most states now have data breach reporting laws, and sectoral regulation such as HIPAA, GLBA, FISMA and others impose strict requirements on organizations. While the United States still has no federal data protection legislation, California (CCPA) does. So do Canada (PIPEDA), Australia and other members of the Commonwealth. In the EU all countries are subject to the EU GDPR, the core of which is exactly the same in all member states. Emerging economies are also passing data protection and cyber security laws, recognizing that improved security is a prerequisite for competing in the data-rich developed world.

In parallel, PCI DSS, a private sector security standard, has emerged as a contractual requirement for organizations that accept payment cards and, interestingly, compliance with PCI DSS has been enshrined in law in some US states; the ICO, in the UK, has recognized its importance.

Directors of listed businesses, of public-sector organizations and of companies throughout their supply chains must be able to identify the steps that they have taken to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of the organization's information assets. In all these instances, the existence of a risk-based information security policy, implemented through an ISMS, is clear evidence that the organization has taken the necessary and appropriate steps.

# Benefits of an information security management system

The benefits of adopting an externally certifiable ISMS are, therefore, clear:

- The directors of the organization will be able to demonstrate that they
  are complying with the relevant requirements of Sarbanes—Oxley, Basel
  2/3, the FRC's Risk Guidance or with current international best practice
  in risk management with regard to information assets and security.
- The organization will be able to demonstrate, in the context of the array of relevant legislation, that it has taken appropriate compliance action, particularly with data protection legislation such as the GDPR.
- The organization will be able systematically to protect itself from the dangers and potential costs of computer misuse, cybercrime and the impacts of cyberwar.
- The organization will be able to improve its credibility with staff, customers and partner organizations, and this improved credibility can have direct financial benefits through, for instance, improved sales. This competitive requirement is increasingly becoming a critical factor for organizations in winning new business from clients that are aware of the need for their suppliers to demonstrate they have implemented effective information security management measures.
- The organization will be able to make informed, practical decisions about
  what security technologies and solutions to deploy and thus to increase
  the value for money it gets from information security, to manage and
  control the costs of information security and to measure and improve its
  return on its information security investments.

# The Corporate Governance Code, the FRC Risk Guidance and Sarbanes-Oxley

### The Combined Code

The first version of the UK Combined Code, issued in 1998, replaced, combined and refined the earlier requirements of the Cadbury and Greenbury reports on corporate governance and directors' remuneration. It came into force for all listed companies for year-ends after December 1998. Since then, UK corporate governance has been on a 'comply or explain' basis; in other words, listed companies are expected to comply but are not statutorily required to do so. Simplistically, if they have good reason, they can choose not to comply with a particular provision of the Combined Code as long as they then explain, in their annual report, why that decision was taken. However, as the market nowadays punishes companies that choose not to comply, any decision about non-compliance is not expected to be taken lightly. (In actual fact, the requirements are a bit more complex than this.)

The Combined Code requirements were broadly similar to those of the earlier reports, but in one important respect – reporting on controls – there was a major and significant development in 1999, prior to the May 2010 revision of what is now formally the UK Corporate Governance Code. While the Cadbury Report had envisaged companies reporting on controls generally, the original guidance that was issued at that time to clarify those requirements permitted, and indeed encouraged, companies to restrict their review of controls, and the disclosures relating to that review, to financial controls.

This meant that potentially more important issues relating to *operational* control were left outside the reporting framework. The current version of the Corporate Governance Code was published in September 2014 and applies to companies listed on the main UK stock exchange (but not to AIM-listed companies). Principle C.2 of the Code says: 'The board is responsible for determining the nature and extent of the principal risks it is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives. The board should maintain sound risk management and internal control systems.'

### The Turnbull Report

The Turnbull Report – 'Internal Control: Guidance for directors on the Combined Code', published by the Internal Control Working Party of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales – provided further guidance in 1999 as to how directors of listed companies should tackle this issue. After multiple revisions, it is now an FRC (published September 2014) publication formally titled 'Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control, and Related Financial and Business Reporting'. It provides specific guidance on how to apply section C.2 of the Code, which deals with risk management and internal control and establishes the principle that: 'risk management and internal control should be incorporated within the company's normal management and governance processes, not treated as a separate compliance exercise.'

Paragraph 28 of the Risk Guidance states that a company's 'internal control system encompasses the policies, culture, organization, behaviours, processes, systems and other aspects of a company' that, taken together:

- Facilitate its effective and efficient operation by enabling it to assess current and emerging risks, respond appropriately to risks and and significant control failures and to safeguard its assets.
- Help ensure the quality of internal and external reporting. This requires
  the maintenance of proper records and processes that generate a flow of
  timely, relevant and reliable information from within and outside the
  organization.
- Help ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

Paragraph 29 recognizes that 'a company's system of risk management and internal control will include risk assessment, management or mitigation of

directors' report that auditors are required to comment on. This provision has been carried forward to the Companies Act 2006. This leaves no 'wiggle room' for directors; all important risk issues have to be identified and disclosed.

While the UK Corporate Governance Code is not, at first sight, relevant to any businesses other than those listed on the UK Stock Exchange, its impact is widely felt throughout the United Kingdom and through the national and international supply chains of UK-listed companies. This means that the FRC Risk Guidance will have an impact on all businesses in those supply chains, and all directors of them will need therefore to be aware of its requirements and implications. It has particular relevance to the management and security of data assets.

The UK government (through HM Treasury) adopted the principles of internal control set out by Turnbull and in 2004 published its 'Orange Book' (*Management of Risk – Principles and concepts*), in which it adapted Turnbull's recommendations to the public sector. All non-governmental organizations (NGOs) and non-departmental public bodies (NDPBs) are expected to conform to these requirements, and all government and government-controlled bodies were expected to ensure implementation and integration of the processes.

The key questions that directors of listed companies and 'Orange Book' public-sector organizations seek to answer in respect of their supply chains are the same questions that directors of companies in those supply chains therefore need to be able to answer for themselves. These questions (which are not meant to be exhaustive) now set out in Appendix C to the Risk Guidance and are quoted below. Key questions the board could ask include the following:

- Are the significant internal and external operational, financial, compliance
  and other risks identified and assessed on an ongoing basis? (Significant
  risks may, for example, include those related to market, credit, liquidity,
  technological, legal, health, safety and environmental, reputation and
  business probity issues.)
- Does the board have clear strategies for dealing with the significant risks that have been identified? Is there a policy on how to manage these risks?
- Are information needs and related information systems reassessed as objectives and related risks change, or as reporting deficiencies are identified?

 Are there specific arrangements for management monitoring and reporting to the board on risk and control matters of particular importance? These could include, for example, actual or suspected fraud and other illegal or irregular acts, or matters that could adversely affect the company's reputation or financial position.

The Risk Guidance does not specify which risks should be included in the scope of the board report and what can be left out. The Guidance simply says, in paragraph 24, that 'the board has responsibility for an organization's overall approach to risk management and internal control.' It goes on to stress that the board should set appropriate policies on internal control and seek regular assurance that will enable it to satisfy itself that the system is functioning effectively. Finally, it makes the point that the board is responsible for determining its risk appetite and for putting in place adequate processes for assuring itself that its risk management objectives are being achieved.

Given the absence of definitive guidance on what risks to include or exclude, the board of directors should seek to be as comprehensive as possible. This means that (among others, including health and safety, environment, employment legislation as well as more obvious strategic risks) information risk (covered in Chapter 1 of this book) must be considered, and therefore information security management will be critical to all organizations. Equally, in assessing risks to the organization, directors will have to assess the risks associated with their supply chains. Data interdependence is a characteristic of supply chains, and therefore risks to data security anywhere in the supply chain are a risk to the whole supply chain. Boards will have to assess these risks, the scale of which were indicated in Chapter 1, and implement appropriate control mechanisms to limit their potential impact.

It is clear that systems designed to meet the requirements of the FRC Risk Guidance should be integrated into the organization. This means that the necessary internal control systems should form part of the organizational culture and be part of the day-to-day management of the organization. They certainly should not be a separate structure designed solely for the purpose of complying with the Code, nor should they be introduced from outside the organization without there being real ownership within – and from the top of – the organization. Implementation does require the entire organization to embrace the principles of the Code; this can only happen if the process is taken sufficiently seriously for it to be embraced at board level and to be owned by the chairperson, CEO and the whole board.

TABLE 2.1

	Section		
	302	404	409
Requirement	Quarterly certification of financial reports	Management's annual certification of internal controls	Monitor operational risks
	Disclosure of all known control deficiences	Independent accountant must attest report	Material event reporting
	Disclosure of acts of fraud	Quarterly reviews of updates/changes	'Real-time' implications – four business days allowed for report to be filed
Responsibility	CEO CFO	Management Independent accountant/auditor	Management Independent accountant/auditor

https://perma.cc/BD5A-K68N)). The sponsoring organizations included the AICPA, the Institute of Internal Auditors, the Institute of Management Accountants and the American Accounting Association. The PCAOB (Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, at www.pcaobus.org (archived at https://perma.cc/T6VV-SAM7), created under SOX to oversee the activity of the auditors of public companies in the United States) expects the majority of public companies to adopt the COSO framework, and its Auditing Standard No. 5 (AS No. 5), dealing with audit of internal control over financial reporting, assumes that the COSO framework (or one substantially like it) will have been adopted.

COSO identifies two broad groups of IT systems control activities: general controls and application controls. General controls are those controls that ensure that the financial information from a company's application systems can be relied upon. General controls exist most commonly as part of an information security management system (such as that identified in ISO/IEC 27001). Application controls are embedded in the software to detect or prevent unauthorized transactions. Such controls can be used to ensure the completeness, accuracy, validity and authorization of transactions.

AS No. 5 goes on, at paragraph 36, to require that 'the auditor also should understand how IT affects the company's flow of transactions. The auditor should apply paragraph 29 and Appendix B of Auditing Standard No. 12, *Identifying and assessing risks of material misstatement*, which discuss the effect of information technology on internal control over financial reporting and the risks to assess.'

IT controls are fundamental to financial control, and ISO/IEC 27001 sets out a structured approach to identify risk and select appropriate mitigation for that risk.

# Enterprise risk management

Enterprise risk management (ERM) has emerged over the last few years as a fundamentally new way for organizations to approach risk. This is driven partly by the extensive overlap between the risk management requirements of SOX, Basel 2/3, and corporate governance regimes elsewhere in the world, as well as ongoing changes in the global information economy. Organizations face new and complex risks in a rapidly changing business, technological and regulatory environment. They cannot afford not to identify and control against all areas of risk – including those that might remain unidentified or unforeseen, such as currency fluctuations, human resource issues in foreign countries, changing or disappearing distribution channels, corporate governance and regulatory pressures, and the range of risks associated with technology, information and intellectual assets.

An ERM process should ensure that a uniform approach to risk identification, measurement and treatment is taken across the organization. ISO31000 is emerging as a widely recognized standard for enterprise risk management.

# COSO ERM framework

COSO's internal control framework has become the *de facto* standard for companies complying with SOX. COSO started work on developing a separate risk management framework in 2001. This framework, the 'Enterprise risk management – integrated framework', was designed to provide a common framework, 'key principles and concepts, a common language, and clear direction and guidance' (as stated in its executive summary, COSO, 2004). This framework expands on the internal control

# INDEX

access control (and) 161-77	business continuity management system	
hackers: prime motivations and	(BCMS) 335-36	
techniques 161-66 see also	business and information continuity	
hackers	management (and) 323-37	
Network Access Control 169-77	business continuity and risk assessment	
see also subject entry	(and) 325–26	
policy 167-69	maximum tolerable period of	
system configuration 166-67	disruption (MTPD) 325	
advanced persistent threat (APT) 17	recovery time objective (RTO) 325	
Annex A controls 110	the business continuity management	
A/ISO27002 control set 106	process 324–25	
annual loss expectancy (ALE) 95, 96	business continuity planning	
articles/papers see NIST	framework 328-32	
asset management 139-56	documentation of critical assets and	
acceptable use of assets 143-44	access information 332	
asset owners 139-40	documentation of individual	
government classification	responsibilities 332	
markings 148-49 see also United	emergency procedures 331	
Kingdom	escalation procedure 329-30	
information classification 144-46	external mobilization and briefing	
information labelling and handling	procedure 330	
150-55	fall back procedures, advance	
SEC1 and legal disclaimer example	planning of 331	
151–52	internal mobilization and briefing	
SEC2 material controls 152-53	procedure 330	
SEC3 material safeguards 154-55	resumption procedures 331	
information lifecycle 149-50	staff and personnel training in BCPs	
inventory: customer relationship	332	
management (CRM) data and	temporary operational procedures	
types of asset 140–43	331	
non-disclosure agreements (NDAs) and	testing of plans, timing and	
trusted partners 155-56	frequency of 131–32	
and asset handling procedures 156	the same format for individual BCPs	
unified classification markings: SEC1,	330-31	
SEC2 and SEC3 146-48	developing and implementing continuity	
auditing standards	plans (and) 327–28	
No.5 (AS No.5) 30	ISO/IEC 27031 Code of Practice 32	
No.12 Identifying and assessing risks of	planning process 327–28	
material misstatement 31	information security continuity (and)	
auditors (and)	335–37	
external ISO27001 65	effectiveness of information security	
internal auditor courses: ISO27001	continuity plans (control 17.1.3)	
and Foundations of Information	337	
Security Management 74	establishment of documented	
	procedures (control 17.1.2)	
Basel 2/3 1, 22	336–37	
Frameworks 90	information security continuity	
BS7799 38-39, 42	objectives (control 17.1.1) 336	

ISO27002 control objective 335-36	with security policies and standards
redundancy in information systems	361–64
(control 17.1.4) 337	Computer Security Resource Center (US
ISO22301 and developing a business	National Institute of Standards
continuity plan (BCP) 323-24	and Technology) 72
testing, maintaining and reassessing	copyright 127, 128, 263, 270, 298, 342,
business continuity plans 332–35	347, 353–58 see also legislation
and change management 335	(UK)
scenarios for use in 334–35	and British Computer Society's
business loss, categories of 103	Copyright Committee 356
business-to-business (b2b) 10, 277	see also FAST
e-commerce propositions 5	infringement 354
business-to-consumer (b2c) 5, 278	software 354–58
BYOD (bring your own device) issues 115,	Copyright Licensing Agency (CLA) 347
118	the Corporate Governance Code (and)
	25–28
Calder, A 92	key questions for board to ask 27-28
CERT (Computer Emergency Response	listed companies 26
Team) 71, 306, 307	Risk Guidance (paragraph 24) 28
coordination centre 167	Risk Guidance (paragraphs 24, 26, 27)
CHAP (Challenge Authentication Protocol)	25–26
180	principle C2: on internal control 25
COBIT (Control Objectives for Information	section A.1: on role of the board and
and Related Technologies) 43,	risk management 25
60, 232	the Corporate Governance Code, the FRC
commercial off-the-shelf (COTS) software	Risk Guidance and Sarbanes-
249, 274, 294	Oxley 23–35
communications management 253-57	the Combined Code 23-24 see also
see also network security	reports
management	the Corporate Governance Code 25–28
compliance (and) 339-64 see also	see also subject entry
legislation (EU), legislation (UK)	enterprise risk management 31-33
and legislation (US)	see also subject entry
Control 18 339	IT governance 34–35
e-commerce 339	regulatory compliance 33–34 see also
identification of applicable legislation	legislation (UK) and legislation
(and) 340–53	(US)
code of practice 349	Sarbanes–Oxley 29–31, 30 see also
contractual obligations 353	subject entry
Network and Information Security	the Turnbull Report 24–25 see also
Directive (EU) 349	subject entry
information systems audit	COSO: Committee of Sponsoring
considerations 364	Organizations of the Treadway
intellectual property rights (and) 353–	Commission 90
58 see also copyright and FAST	and ERM framework <u>30</u> , 31–33
copyright infringement 354	Crime-as-a-Service (CaaS) business model
software copyright 354–58	15
'whistleblowers' 357	Critical National Infrastructure (CNI)
privacy and protection of personally	16–17
identifiable information 359-61	Cruise, T (in character of Ethan Hunt) 206
protection of organizational	cryptography (and) 197-203
records 358-59	digital signatures 200-201
regulation of cryptographic	encryption 198–99
controls 361	asymmetric/public key 199

symmetric and Data Encryption	definition of ERM 32
Standard (DES) 198	eight components of COSO ERM
key management 202-03	framework 32
and risk assessment process	equipment security (and) 217-28
questions 202–03	cabling security and ISO27002 measures
non-repudiation services 201-02	222–23
policy statement 197–98	clear desk and clear screen policy 227-28
public key infrastructure 199-200	equipment maintenance; risk assessment
see also legislation (UK)	and insurance 223
Cryptolocker 243	equipment siting and protection 217-20
customer relationship management (CRM)	see also ISO27002
systems and assets 142-43	removal of assets 224
cybercrime (and) 14-15	secure disposal or reuse of equipment
cyber attacks 7	225–27
cyber security 5	and unattended user equipment
Cybercrime Convention (Council of	226–27
Europe) 15	security of equipment and assets
organized crime groups (OCGs) 15	off-premises (and) 224–25
organizea erinte groups (o o os) 10	encryption, staff training, risk
data breaches 11, 12, 14	assessments and insurance
demilitarized zones (DMZs) of extranets	224–25
173, 256	supporting utilities <i>and</i> uninterruptible
development and support processes (and)	power supply (UPS) 220–22
285–94	European Convention for the Protection of
secure development environment	Human Rights and Fundamental
289–90	Freedoms (the Convention) 348
and outsourced development 290	European Union (EU) see also legislation
secure development policy (and) 285–88	(EU)
restrictions on changes to software	cyber security strategy (2013): 'An Open,
packages 288	Safe and Secure Cyberspace' 16
system change control procedures	EU–US Privacy Shield registration 297
and PRINCE2 286–87	information classification scheme 148
technical review of applications after	Europol and Internet Organised Crime
operating platform changes 288	Threat Assessment (iOCTA) 15
vulnerabilities (OWASP Top 10)	exchanges of information (and) 259–72
285–86	agreements on information transfers
	262–63
secure systems engineering principles 289	
	e-mail policy 265–66 e-mail security risks (ISO27002) 264–66
security and acceptance testing (and) 290–94	e-mail and social media 263–64
measures to be implemented 292–93	
Microsoft 291–92	information transfer policies and procedures 259–62
protection of test data 294	measures to be taken 260–62
system acceptance testing (control	internet acceptable use policy 269–71
A.14.2.9) 291	misuse of the internet (and) 266–69
Systems Development Lifecycle (SDLC)	acceptable use policy (AUP) 267–69
285	negative publicity from employee
F ' C ' ' 1D 1	dismissals 267
Economic Co-operation and Development,	recreational surfing 267
Organisation for (OECD) 3	reduction in employee
and Principles of Corporate Governance	productivity 267
$(1999) \ \underline{3}$	surf control technology and
enterprise risk management and COSO	acceptable use policy (AUP)
ERM framework (and) 31-33	267–68

social media 271–72	information security policy and scope (and)
spam 266	77–87
PAGE (P. 1	context of the organization 77–78
FAST (Federation Against Software Theft)	costs, the monitoring of progress and
356, 357 see also copyright	key points for reviewing progress
and forms of software theft 356–57	86–87
Financial Reporting Council (FRC)	information security policy 78–84
Risk Guidance 22, 28, 38, 90	key questions: what? where? who? and
and Sarbanes-Oxley 38 see also	why? 79–84
legislation (US)	policy statement 85–86
further reading (Appendix 2) 379-83	information security – why is it necessary?
	(and) 9–22 see also surveys
Guidelines on Firewalls and Firewall Policy	advanced persistent threat (APY) 9, 17
(NIST, Special Publication	benefits of an information security
800–41) 175	management system 22
	cybercrime 14-15 see also subject entry
hackers (and) 161-66	cyberwar 16–17
Certified Ethical Hacker (CEC)	future risks 17–20
certification 162	impacts of information security threats
prime motivations: challenge, mischief,	13–14
working around and theft 161	information insecurity 12-13 see also
'script kiddies' 162	reports
techniques 162–66	legislation 20-21 see also legislation
human resources security (and) 121–37	(UK) and legislation (US)
disciplinary process 134–35	the nature of information security threats
during employment (and) 128–34	(and) 10–12 see also reports
e-learning 129-30	risk categories: damage to
training/training needs analysis	operations, to reputation and
(TNA) 131–34	legal damage 11–12
user-specific training 131	Information Security Risk Management for
using intranet or SharePoint 133-34	ISO28001/ISO27002 92 see also
job descriptions and competency	Calder, A and Watkins, S G
requirements 121–23	Information Systems Security Certification
screening and verification (control 7.1.1	Consortium (ISC2) 70
of ISO27002) 123–26	Infosecurity Today Magazine 72
termination or change of	International Electrotechnical Commission
employment 135-37 see also	40
control areas	International Organization for
terms and conditions of employment	Standardization (ISO, Geneva) 40
and control 7.1.2	introduction (and/and the) 1–8
(ISO27002) 126–28	book as key resource – six reasons for
confidentiality agreement 126–28	1-2
non-disclosure agreement (NDA)	definition of IT governance 3–4
127–28	information economy 2–3
review of agreements 127–28	information security 4–8 see also ISO27001
IBITGQ Internal Audit qualification 74-75	ISACA and ISC2 professional organizations
information classifications	72
SEC1 147-48, 151-52	ISC Common Body of Knowledge (CBK) 97
SEC2 147-48, 152-53, 155	and five types of control 97
SEC3 147-48, 154-55	ISMS (and)
information security management systems	requirements 229
(ISMSs) 5-6, 60-61, 78	Sharepoint 229
documentation 210	social media 271-72

ISMS standard (and) 6–7, 92, 99–100, 101,	ISO27001 audit (and) 365-71
150, 169	Assessment Without Tears 370
Clause <u>6.1.2</u> 91	initial audit 367-68
Documentation Toolkit 86	preparation for 368–70
ISO27001 ISMS Lead Auditor 74	and Statement of Applicability (SoA)
meaningful 100	369
scope 96, 99–100	selection of auditors for 365-67
structuring and development of an	terminology 371
effective 144	ISO27001 standards 2, 6, 7–8, 34, 35, 37–
ISO Directives for standardization 47, 48	54, 57, 58, 231, 233–34 see also
ISO9000 229, 231	ISO/IEC27000 series of standards
ISO9001 58	benefits of certification 37–38
certificated quality management system	clause 5.3 55
47	clause 9.2e – control A.6.1.2 for
certified management system 48	segregation of duties 59
ISO15489–1 on managing organization	clause 9.3 – requirement for
records 359	
ISO20000 47, 231	management review of ISMS 58 continual improvement and metrics
	53–54
ISO22301 47, 231, 323–24, 335	
ISO27000 93, 231	continual improvement, Plan-Do-
definition of 'external context' 77	Check–Act, and process approach
definitions for key terms used in security	43–44
policy 82–83	and note on numbering 44
family of standards 106	documentation (for) 48–53
ISO27001 (and) 95, 96, 99, 100, 106, 109,	change management 51–52
171, 173, 215, 229, 231, 231,	communication and compliance with
233–34, 253, 275, 301, 335, 367	clause 7.4 52–53
2013 68	ISO27001 ISMS Documentation
auditor/audit 72, 74, 93, 175, 206	Toolkit 50
British Computer Society (BCS) as link	leadership 50
for 70	reviews 53
certificate 107	history of ISO27001 and ISO27002
certification 108	38–40
clause <u>5.2</u> 86	ISO27001-focused certified training
clause <u>7.2</u> 63	courses 69
clause 9.2: internal ISMS audits 362	management system integration 47-48
concept of cross-functional forum	Microsoft certification 99
disappeared from 61	structured approach to implementation
contractual requirements 353	44-47 see also Plan-Do-Check-
control A.6.1.1 66	Act
control <u>A.6.1.3</u> 73	and implementation issues 46-47
implementation 47-48	use of the standard 41-42
ISMS 92	ISO27002 99, 109, 150, 173, 194, 254,
ISMS Documentation Toolkit 86	284, 308–09, 316
ISMS lead Auditor 74	at 10.1.1: on policy on use of
key issues 69–70	cryptographic controls 197
as outcome-orientated management	advice on selection and design of secure
standard 113	areas 211
project 69	best practice on deployment of software
project group 62–68 see also organizing	249–50
information security	email security risks 264
risk assessment 91	software development 233
and Risk Owner (at <u>6.1.3.f</u> ) 111	on consideration of additional controls
risk treatment plan 89	for secure areas 231–232
Tion creatment plan 07	101 secure areas 251 252

access to networks and network services 173–74	documented operating procedures 229–31
extranets 170-71	separation of development, testing and
firewalls and network perimeter security 174–75	operational environments 233–34
network intrusion detection systems (NIDS) 176–77	organizing information security (and) 55–75
NIST Publication SP 800-31: Intrusion	contact with authorities 73
Detection Systems 177 routers and switches 175–76	contact with special interest groups 71–73
Special Publication 800-47, Security	the cross-functional management forum
Guide for Interconnecting	61–62
Information Technology Systems	independent review of information
171	security 74–75
user authentication for external	the information security manager
connections 177	59-61
virtual private networks (VPNs) 170	defined and key activities for 60-61
wireless networks 171–73	information security in project
network security management (and) 253-57	management 73–74
security of network services 255-56	internal organization and ISO27002,
segregation in networks 256–57	ISO27003 56-58
NIST 106, 306	the ISO27001 project group 62–68
Guidelines on Firewalls and Firewall	allocation of information security
Policy (800–41) 175	responsibilities 66–68
Intrusion Detection Systems (SP	chairperson 64–65
800–31) 177	members 62–64
paper on SDLC 285	records 65–66
Security for Telecommuting and	management review 58
Broadband Communications	segregation of duties 70–71
(SP 800-44) 118	specialist information security advice 68–70
Systems Development Lifecycle (SDLC) 285	
website 175	summary 75
website 1/3	password(s) (and) 6, 15, 67, 137, 163,
OHSAS 18001 standard 47	164–65, 168, 176, 179–81, 183,
operations security (and) 229–38	186–89 192, 225, 226–27, 234,
back-up <i>and</i> ISO27002 – controls to be	280, 283–84
considered 235–38	authentication technology protocols:
back-up of critical paper files 237	TACACS+ and RADIUS 180
definition and application of	management system 193–94
retention period for business	Password Authentication Protocol (PAP)
information 238	180
minimum level of back-up	Payment Card Industry Data Security
information 236	Standard (PCIDSS) 275, 282,
recovery and restoration procedures	283, 353
237	PCAOB's Auditing Standard No. 5 35
Redundant Array of Independent	replaced AS No 2 in 2007 35
Disks (RAID) 237–38	physical and environmental security (for)
regular testing of back-up media	205–15
236–37	and A.11 control category 205
same levels of security as original	delivery and loading areas 214-15
data 236	ISO27002: measures to be
change management (and) 231-33	considered 215
capacity management 232-33	secure areas 205-14
change control procedure 232	physical entry controls 208-10